THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APR 20 2015

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-32-1368  
Appellate Case No: 2014-001026

Ex parte:

Progressive Northern Insurance Company.....Respondent,

In re:

Ronald Lee Cooper.....Appellant,

v.

Rebecca Sue Fischer.....Defendant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JOHN W. CARRIGG, JR.  
120 North Lake Drive  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072  
Telephone: (803) 785-5511  
Facsimile: (803) 785-5513

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS?**
  - A. **APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR UIM COVERAGE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED AS BEING NON-COMPLIANT WITH THE REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN S.C. CODE SECTION 38-77-160, ET SEQ.**

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case is presented on appeal based upon procedural issues only. The relevant facts are that this case arose out of a lawsuit filed by the Appellant against the Respondent on April 18, 2013, seeking damages for the personal injuries he sustained in an automobile/motorcycle accident involving Appellant and Respondent in Lexington County on April 24, 2010. (R.pp.1-6). Respondent was personally served with the Summons and Complaint, but failed to answer or otherwise respond to the Summons and Complaint in a timely manner. (R.p.46). Appellant therefore subsequently filed an Application for Judgment of Default and Determination of Damages with the Circuit Court, and an Order of Default was subsequently granted to Appellant with a Determination of Damages Hearing set and scheduled for October 17, 2013. (R.pp.7-12).

Upon Appellant notifying the Respondent of the Default and Determination of Damages Hearing (R.pp.13-15), Respondent's counsel filed with the Circuit Court on October 10, 2013, a Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default and For Enlargement of Time to Answer. (R.pp.20-32). However, on October 28, 2013, the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. denied Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. (R.pp.47-51).

Thereafter, on January 3, 2014, Appellant's claim against the Respondent's liability carrier was resolved upon an Agreement and Covenant Not to Execute. (R.pp.52-55). Based upon the Agreement and Covenant Not to Execute, Appellant then proceeded to pursue an underinsured motorist coverage claim against Appellant's insurance carrier, Progressive Northern Insurance, serving same with the Summons and Complaint in this matter. However, Progressive Northern Insurance objected to the underinsured motorist coverage claim, and on January 30, 2014, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss or in the alternative for Summary Judgment of the underinsured motorist coverage claim. (R.pp.58-69). A hearing was held on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss on February 21, 2014 before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, (R.pp.90-105) and on February 28, 2014, Judge Gibbons granted Respondent's Motion and signed and Order of Dismissal, filed with the Circuit Court on March 7, 2014.(R.pp.70-74). Upon receipt of the Order of Dismissal, Appellant filed his Motion for Reconsideration on March 21, 2014.R.pp.75-82). Appellant Motion was subsequently denied by the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons in his Order dated April 30, 2014.(R.pp.86-88). Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court on May 12, 2014. (R.p.89).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 18, 2013, Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint with the Lexington County Clerk of Court against the Respondent, seeking damages for the personal injuries he sustained as a result of the automobile/motorcycle accident that occurred on April 24, 2010 between the Appellant and Respondent. (R.pp.1-6). On May 31, 2013, Respondent

was personally served with the Summons and Complaint by the Lexington County Sheriff's Department (R.p.46).. However, in the following thirty (30) days, thereafter, neither the Respondent nor an attorney on her behalf filed any responsive pleadings or answer to this Summons and Complaint, and no insurance company or attorney representing the Respondent contacted Appellant's counsel in any way whatsoever regarding this pending action.

Having received no answer or responsive pleading to the Summons and Complaint by July 26, 2013, Appellant's counsel thereafter filed an Application for Default and Damages Hearing with the Lexington County Clerk of Court. (R. pp.7-11). On August 5, 2013, the Honorable Thomas A. Russo signed an Order of Default granting the Appellant a damages hearing, and said Order of Default was entered by the Lexington County Clerk of August 28, 2014. (R.p.12) A Damages Hearing was subsequently set for October 17, 2013.

On October 1, 2013, Appellant's attorney mailed the Respondent the Notice of Default and Damages Hearing. (R.pp.14-15). Respondent received the Notice of Default and Damages Hearing on October 4, 2013 as evidenced by the Certificate of Service filed with the Court (R.p.13), and on October 10, 2013, Respondent's attorney filed a Motion for Continuance of Damages Hearing with Notice of Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default and For Enlargement of Time to Answer and Memorandum of Law with supporting attachments and a proposed Answer. (R.pp.16-39). On October 16, 2013, Appellant filed his Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default with his supporting documentation. (R.pp.40-45) The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr.

denied Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default on October 23, 2014, and his Order denying same was filed on October 28, 2013. (R.pp.47-51).

The Appellant's liability claim against Respondent's liability carrier, Traveler's Home and Marine Insurance Company, was resolved by way of an Agreement and Covenant Not to Execute on January 3, 2014. (R. pp.52-55). Appellant then proceeded with an underinsured motorist claim against his automobile insurance carrier, Progressive Northern Insurance, based upon the Agreement and Covenant Not to Execute. However, on January 30, 2014, counsel for Respondent and Progressive Northern Insurance filed a Notice of Appearance along with their Motion to Dismiss or in the alternative for Summary Judgment on the underinsured motorist coverage claim of Appellant. (R. pp.56-69). A Hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was held on February 21, 2014 before The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, (R.pp.90-105) and Judge Gibbons granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss in his Order dated February 28, 2014, filed March 7, 2014. R.pp.70-74). In response, Appellant filed his Motion to Reconsider or alter and amend this Order of Dismissal on March 21, 2014. (R.pp.75-82). On April 30, 2014, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons signed an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, filed with the Circuit Court on May 6, 2014.(R.pp.86-88). On May 12, 2014, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal with this Court. (R.p.89).

## ARGUMENT

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS?

A) APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR UIM COVERAGE BENEFITS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED AS BEING NON-COMPLIANT WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF S.C. CODE SECTION 38-77-160.

The general procedure for obtaining UIM benefits is set forth in South Carolina Code Section 38-77-160 which provides:

No action may be brought under the under the underinsured motorist provision unless copies of the pleadings in the action establishing liability are served in the manner provided by law upon the insurer writing the underinsured motorist provision. The insurer has the right to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist in any action which may affect its liability and has thirty days after service of process on it in which to appear....In the event that automobile insurance insurer for the putative at-fault insured chooses to settle in part the claim against its insured by payment of its applicable liability limits on behalf of its insured, the underinsured motorist carrier may assume control of the defense of action for its own benefit..... (R. p.61).

However, questions of statutory interpretations are questions of law, which the Appellate Court is free to decide without any deference to the lower Court below. *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E. 2d, 877 (2011). In that regard, while the Appellate Court must ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature and as a standard rule should follow the plain and unambiguous language in a statute (*Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E. 2d 578 (2000)), it does not have to apply the words literally if that would lead to a patently absurd result, and when that is the case, the Appellate Court should look beyond the statute's plain language. *Cabines v. Town of James Island*, 393 S.C. 176, 712 S.E.2d 416 (2011).

The legislative intent of S.C. Code Section 38-77-160 is for the UIM carrier to receive timely notice of actions in which they may be liable for UIM benefits so that they can protect their interests. *Ex Parte Allstate Insurance Co.*, 339 S.C. 202, 205, 528 S.E. 2d 680, 681 (Ct. App. 2000). In that regard, Respondent asserts that *Ex Parte Allstate* is controlling in this case. However, the facts of the two cases are in no way similar, and

Appellant would therefore urge this Court to reexamine very carefully the facts and procedural history in the instant case. (R.p.76). In *Ex Parte Allstate*, the facts are that the Plaintiff in that case filed the lawsuit, served the Defendant and tried the case to a verdict; specifically, the jury in the *Ex Parte Allstate* case returned a verdict of \$36,697.00 and the liability carrier for the at-fault party had limits of \$15,000.00. (R.p.76). It was then only after the jury verdict had been rendered that the Plaintiff then served the UIM carrier, seeking the limits of the Plaintiff's UIM coverage under that policy. (R. p.76). In the instant case, Respondent takes the position that because a default had been entered against her this is also tantamount to a verdict. (R. p.76). However, Appellant would assert that there was no verdict in the instant case, and clearly there is a difference between an entry of default and a default judgment; specifically, an entry of default is addressed under Rule 55 (a), SCRPC and a default judgment is addressed separately under Rule 55 (b), and in the instant case, only an entry of default applies to Appellant's case as no default hearing was ever held. (R.p.76)

Further, there are two entirely different standards for relief from entry of default and relief from a default judgment. See SCRPC 55 (c). With regard to setting aside a default judgment, our courts have held in interpreting Rule 60 (b) that the trial judge should consider the following relevant factors: 1) the promptness with which relief is sought, 2) the reasons for the failure to act promptly, 3) the existence of a meritorious defense, and 4) the prejudice to other parties. *Tobias v. Rice*, 379 S.C. 357, 366, 665 S.E. 2d 216, 221 (Ct. App. 2008); *Micronics, Inc., v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510-11, 548 S.E. 2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001); *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Bey Corp.*, 312 S.C. 47, 50, 435 S.E. 3d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1993); *Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 309, 547

*S.E. 2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2001)*. (R.pp.76-77). On the other hand, with regard to setting aside an entry of default (the situation that applies in the instant case), the courts have held that they should employ a “good cause” standard instead of the more rigorous standard of “excusable neglect” under SCRCR Rule 60 (b). Specifically under *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 381 S.E. 2d 499, 298 S.C. 462 (S.C. App. 1989), the Court considers the following factors: 1) the timing of defendant’s motion for relief; 2) whether defendant has a meritorious defense, and 3) the degree of prejudice to Plaintiff if relief is granted. (R.p.77).

Therefore, the Courts have different standards with regard to entry of default and default judgments, and in the instant case, an entry of default was recorded by the Court, but no damages hearing was ever held, and no default judgment was ever entered against Respondent, and up to that point, Appellant had no way of knowing if he even had a potential claim for UIM benefits, as he had not received any response or any information whatsoever from Respondent’s liability carrier as to their position as to liability and/or coverage limits. It was not until after the hearing on Respondent’s motion to be relieved from default that Appellant was informed *for the first time* that Respondent’s limits of liability coverage were only \$25,000.00. (R.pp.77-78).

It was not until after the motion hearing that Appellant was able to pursue negotiations to settle the case, ultimately resolving the liability case with the Respondent paying the policy limits of the liability coverage in exchange for a Covenant Not to Execute. (R.p.78). At that point in January 2014, and at no point prior to that negotiated settlement did Appellant become aware that he had a viable claim for UIM coverage benefits.(R.p.78). After obtaining the Covenant Not to Execute, Appellant immediately

thereafter served the UIM carrier with the Summons and Complaint, putting the UIM carrier on notice of the claim; this UIM action, however, in no way prevented the UIM Carrier from contesting any aspect of the claim against the Respondent, including the liability of Respondent for the accident, as it then stepped into the shoes of the Respondent in every way. Therefore, the Respondent's position that Appellant was required to serve the UIM Carrier at the same time as it initially served the Respondent defies logical thinking in that it would require a Plaintiff to almost always simultaneously and automatically serve the at-fault party and the UIM Carrier. However, in reality, the Plaintiff bringing the initial lawsuit against the alleged at-fault party is likely unaware, at that point in time, of the applicable policy limits, and hence is factually unaware of whether or not a UIM claim is viable or would instead be considered a frivolous claim. (R.p.78). It is not until the Plaintiff receives notification through discovery of what the liability limits are that he can assess whether or not the claim likely exceeds the amount of liability coverage available. (R.p.78) The legislative intent would not have been to encourage frivolous lawsuit.

In addition, Appellant was willing to set aside the default and said so at the hearing on Respondent's motion to dismiss. (R.p.78). In that regard, Appellant asserts that the case that actually applies to this instant case is *Broome v. Watts*, 319 S.C. 337, 61 S.E. 2d 46 (1995). The *Broome* case stands for the proposition that the UIM Carrier has the right to defend the case and is not bound by the agreement or the follies of the actual Defendant. (R.pp.78-79). In this instant case, Respondent Fischer allowed her case to go into default; however, *Broome* is clear that the UIM Carrier is not bound by that default. (R.p.79). In *Broome*, the Supreme Court ruled that the UIM Carrier had rights separate

and distinct from those of the actual Defendant and the Carrier could assert those rights regardless of an agreement made by the named Defendant with the Plaintiff. (R.p.79). As in *Broome*, the Appellant in this case settled with the Respondent Fischer for the liability limits after she defaulted. Therefore, applying the same logic to this instant case, the UIM Carrier would have the right, separate and apart from Respondent Fischer to be relieved from the default. Nevertheless, the UIM carrier in this instant case has instead sought to dismiss the entire action as opposed to asserting the rights that they do have, namely to be relieved from Respondent Fischer's default and to defend the entire case anew.(R.p.79). Nothing in Appellant's actions would prevent the Respondent from now asserting all its legal defenses, including its right to deny Respondent's liability for this accident claim; Appellant should not be now punished for asserting all of his rights against Respondent Fischer and Respondent should not be now unfairly rewarded when they have clearly not been deprived of their legal rights by Appellant to defend the entire case anew. The prior Order of the Circuit Court dismissing Appellant's action against the UIM Carrier is simply factually and legally incorrect when it states that the "Plaintiff cannot now consent to set aside the very Default Order upon which the settlement was based and retry the case for UIM purposes" (Order of Dismissal signed by the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, dated February 28, 2014, filed with Circuit Court on March 7, 2014) , as this is in direct contradiction to the holding of our Supreme Court in *Broome*, (R.p.79)which clearly stated that the UIM Carrier has separate and distinct rights from the actual defendant, and where as in this instant case, Appellant's counsel agreed to consent to set aside the default for the UIM Carrier if they made that motion. (R.p.79).

Finally, the Circuit Court was incorrect in holding that the instant case is governed by *Williams vs. Selective Insurance Company of the Southeast*, 315 S.C. 532, 446 S.E. 2d 402 (1994). (R.p.80). The fact situations in these two cases are entirely different. Specifically, in *Williams*, the Plaintiff negotiated with the liability carrier and settled the case with them on a covenant. Plaintiff, in *Williams*, then allowed the applicable statute of limitations to run, and then after the applicable statute of limitations had run filed an action against the UIM Carrier. The action in *Williams* against the UIM Carrier was therefore barred on statute of limitations grounds. However, in the instant case, the Appellant filed his claim against Respondent Fischer within the statute of limitations, and the claim would not have been barred on that basis, and therefore this case is not in the same procedural posture as *Williams*. As stated by our Supreme Court in *Ex Parte The South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company*, 314 S.C. 487, 431 S.E.2d 252 (S.C. 1993), the UIM Statute (S.C. Code Section 38-77-160) is a notice statute and not a statute of limitations. Therefore, in *Ex Parte The South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company* case, the alleged at fault party was served within the statute of limitations but the UIM Carrier was not served within the statute of limitations, which are the same facts in the instant case, but as the Supreme Court held in *Ex Parte The South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company*, the UIM statute was not a statute of limitations but a notice statute and it therefore remanded the case for trial. (R.p.80).

Clearly, S.C. Code Section 38-77-160, the UIM Statute, is a notice statute, not a statute of limitations (R.p.81), and Respondent UIM Carrier received adequate and appropriate notice within the requirements of this code section in that the Respondent UIM Carrier steps into the shoes of the Respondent Fischer, not bound by the prior