IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-001026

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 03 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Ex parte:

Progressive Northern Insurance Company..... Respondent,

In re:

Ronald Lee Cooper ..... Appellant,

v.

Rebecca Sue Fischer ..... Defendant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Peter E. Farr, Esquire  
S.C. Bar # 73658  
Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire  
S.C. Bar # 100229  
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.  
P.O. Box 6648  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 782-4100  
Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

JOHN W. CARRIGG, JR.  
137 E. Butler Street, Suite 6

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

Appellant deprived Respondent of the opportunity to step in and Answer on behalf of Fischer by failing to comply with the statute and waiting until after obtaining a default against the underinsured motorist before notifying Respondent of the claim. Fischer failed to protect her own interests, and Respondent was unable to step in because Appellant failed to comply with the statute. Because timely notice to Respondent is a statutory prerequisite to pursuing the UIM claim, the Circuit Court correctly held that Appellant’s violation of the statute required dismissal of his UIM claim.

Appellant also deprived the Court and litigants the benefit of judicial economy created by § 38-77-160. The statute requires service upon Respondent “in the action establishing liability” so that all liability issues can be dealt with in the same case at the

same time. Appellant litigated the liability question against Fischer in full by obtaining the default and successfully opposing Fischer's motion to set it aside. Now, he wants to re-litigate the liability question as to Respondent. The legislature created § 38-77-160 to prevent this kind of duplicative proceeding.

**I. The Circuit Court correctly held that *Ex Parte Allstate* controls this case.**

When Appellant refused to set aside the entry of default against Fischer, the merits of the case were decided. Fischer moved to set aside the default and the trial court refused. The time for any motion to reconsider or appeal of the denial lapsed long before Appellant served Respondent. Relying upon that victory, Appellant was able to obtain a full policy-limits settlement from Fischer's liability carrier, receiving more than double the amount of his claimed medical bills for soft-tissue injuries. Nonetheless, he now argues that the circuit court should be reversed because no default judgment was entered prior to service on Respondent. The circuit court correctly relied upon this Court's holding in *Ex parte Allstate* when it rejected Appellant's argument and dismissed the UIM claim for failing to comply with the statute.

**A. This Court in *Ex parte Allstate* held that § 38-77-160 requires a timely notice that gives the UIM carrier an opportunity to appear and participate in the defense at a point in time when the participation is still meaningful.**

The claimant in *Ex parte Allstate* filed suit against the alleged underinsured motorist and pursued the case through a jury trial before serving the UIM carrier. 339 S.C. at 203-04, 528 S.E.2d at 680. Like Respondent here, Allstate filed a Notice of Appearance, demanded a jury trial, and raised an affirmative defense that Allstate was not notified of the suit before trial and was therefore denied statutory procedural protections. *Id.* Unsurprisingly, the claimant in *Ex parte Allstate* raised some of the

same arguments raised by Appellant in this case. In particular, the claimant argued, (1) because he served Allstate while post-trial motions were still pending, service was timely; and (2) because Allstate would not have had the right to step in to defend until the liability carrier tendered policy limits, there was no prejudice to Allstate.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* at 204-05, 528 S.E.2d at 680. The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the purpose of the service requirement is to protect the UIM carrier's ability to step in and protect the interests of the underinsured motorist – and in doing so protect its own interests – before those interests are prejudiced. In other words, the UIM carrier must receive service with enough time for its appearance in the action to be meaningful. “The requirement of service in [§ 38-77-160] is absolute.” *Id.* at 205, 528 S.E.2d at 680. Although the statute does not expressly state when service must be accomplished, “[t]he intent of the statute is that UIM carriers receive notice of actions in which they may be liable for UIM benefits *so that they can protect their interests.*” *Id.* (emphasis added). Therefore, permitting “service on a UIM carrier *after* that action has been tried would defeat the purpose of granting the UIM carrier the right to ‘appear and defend.’” *Id.* (emphasis added)

Relying upon the purpose of the service requirement, the Court of Appeals held that service after trial was insufficient. The Court of Appeals rejected the argument that participation in post-trial motions or appeals permitted Allstate to protect its interests, holding that such limited participation “would have been a far cry from the right to protect itself during the early stages of the lawsuit.” *Id.* at 205, 528 S.E.2d at 681.

---

<sup>1</sup> The claimant also argued that the issues of liability and damages had both been fully litigated by a jury with the underinsured motorist being represented by counsel. *Id.* Unlike the defendant in *Ex parte Allstate*, Fischer was unable to fully litigate the merits of the case because of the default. This distinction actually strengthens Respondent's position in this case because it steps into the shoes of a defendant who was unable to litigate on the merits because of a position taken by Appellant before the trial court.

The Court of Appeals also rejected the argument that Allstate did not suffer any prejudice because it was unable to step in and control the defense until after the liability carrier tendered its limits.<sup>2</sup> Although Allstate had no right to *control* the defense, “the UIM carrier always has the right to ‘appear and defend in the name of the underinsured in any action which may affect its liability.’” *Id.* The facts of this case illustrate the point poignantly. Although in *Ex parte Allstate*, Allstate may not have needed to take any additional steps to protect its interests because the underinsured motorist in that case participated in the defense of the claim, here, Respondent could have answered on Fischer’s behalf and avoided the default in its entirety, even if Fischer’s liability carrier did not step in and defend the case. However, because Appellant failed to serve Respondent or even provide notice of the suit for nine months, Respondent lost these important statutory protections. Therefore, the Circuit Court properly found this Court’s holding in *Ex parte Allstate* applicable.

**B. By enacting § 38-77-160, the legislature intended to create judicial economy by having one proceeding resolve both liability and underinsured motorist liability.**

“No action may be brought under the underinsured motorist provision unless copies of the pleadings in the action establishing liability are served . . . upon the insurer . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (emphasis added). Section 38-77-160 is a statutory condition precedent to pursuing UIM benefits. By enacting the statute, the General

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant argues that this case is controlled by *Broome v. Watts*, 319 S.C. 337, 61 S.E.2d 46 (1995). However, that case merely held that, once a UIM carrier is served with a copy of the Summons and Complaint and files its notice of appearance, the underinsured motorist cannot waive the UIM carrier’s right to a jury trial or waive venue in a collusive out-of-court settlement to which the UIM carrier is not a party. Unlike the out-of-court settlement in *Broome*, this case deals with an un-appealed Order of the Circuit Court denying Fischer’s Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. *Broome* involves a Plaintiff who correctly served the UIM carrier prior to a collusive agreement and then tried to bind the UIM carrier. The present case involves Appellant’s failure to timely serve his UIM carrier. Therefore, *Broome* does not provide guidance in this case, but *Ex parte Allstate* is applicable and controlling.

Assembly created a streamlined approach to pursuing UIM coverage by providing a mechanism for the UIM carrier to participate in the same litigation that would determine liability against the at-fault driver. The General Assembly recognized the waste of judicial resources that would result from permitting separate actions against an at-fault driver and the UIM carrier.

In order to avoid undesirable duplicative litigation, the General Assembly enacted § 38-77-160 and made service upon the UIM carrier in the action against the at-fault driver a statutory prerequisite to pursuing UIM coverage. Section 38-77-160 requires service upon the liability carrier “*in the action establishing liability*” for this very reason. If the UIM carrier has no notice of the liability action and no opportunity to appear, it could not be bound by the decision in that case. By requiring service, the insurer not only gains the opportunity to appear and participate, but is also bound by the outcome, thus removing the need for repetitive litigation of the same issues.

The facts of this case exemplify the importance of strict adherence to § 38-77-160. If Appellant is allowed to set aside the default, the Circuit Court will be forced to oversee re-litigation of the same case. The action against Fischer has already been litigated to a conclusion on the merits. Fischer defaulted, and Appellant successfully argued against setting aside the default. As a result, the trial court deemed the factual allegations as admitted. The default conclusively establishes the merits of the case. Moreover, that ruling went un-appealed before Respondent was ever notified of the suit and is now the law of the case. *See Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“While his calculation of damages may have been incorrect, an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”)

(citation omitted). As a result of the unfavorable merits ruling, Fischer and her liability carrier agreed to a full policy-limits settlement. For Fischer, the issues were fully litigated.

Even though Fischer's case has already been litigated to a decision on the merits via the default and denial of the motion to set aside, Appellant asks the Court to simply set aside that default and subject Fischer to the entire litigation process once again. Appellant and Respondent would be dragging Fischer, five years after her accident, back into the fray for discovery and trial even though she herself was denied the ability to try the merits of her case and even though she no longer has any financial interest in the case. This duplicative proceeding is exactly the kind of judicial waste that the General Assembly tried to avoid in § 38-77-160.

This Court's holding in *Ex parte Allstate* and the Supreme Court's holding in *Williams v. Selective Insurance Company of the Southeast*, 315 S.C. 532, 446 S.E.2d 402 (1994), both demonstrate this principle. In *Ex parte Allstate*, the claimant could not obtain a verdict against the at-fault motorist and then serve the UIM carrier because it would require the UIM carrier to be bound by an action to which it was not a party or require re-litigating the case against the at-fault driver. Likewise, the Supreme Court in *Williams* held that a claimant who fails to preserve his rights against the at-fault driver by timely filing a lawsuit also fails to preserve his rights to UIM coverage because the two actions must be litigated together. 315 S.C. at 533, 446 S.E.2d at 404 ("Williams failed to comply with the requirement that she serve on Insurer copies of pleadings in an action against the at-fault driver.").

In this case, the action against Fischer reached a conclusion on the merits. Fischer actually appeared – albeit untimely – to defend the default. The un-appealed order denying the motion to set aside entry of default became the law of the case. Had Appellant allowed Fischer to set aside the default, she presumably would have actively participated in the defense with her liability carrier. Assuming proper service, Respondent would have been involved from the outset in settlement negotiations, discovery and – to the extent permitted by Fischer and her counsel – trial strategy. Because of the liability carrier’s contractual relationship with Fischer, Fischer would have been obliged to participate and assist in the defense of the case and appear at hearings and at trial. Fischer’s active participation in the case would have benefited Respondent greatly.

Instead of enjoying the benefits that go along with having an actively-involved and interested defendant, Respondent steps into the case without Fischer’s continued participation. Before default and the resulting settlement, Fischer had a personal financial interest in the case to the extent that there was a possibility of a verdict in excess of her liability limits.<sup>3</sup> Now, she has obtained protection via a Covenant Not to Execute after being told by the trial court that she would not be permitted to contest the merits of Appellant’s allegations. She has no financial interest to participate in the defense of the case. As this Court has previously held, Respondent does not enjoy the benefits of a direct relationship with Fischer and its counsel does not enjoy the protections of an attorney-client privilege. *See Crawford, supra* (holding that attorney for UIM insurer did not have an attorney-client relationship with the underinsured motorist who was a named

---

<sup>3</sup> By asserting a claim for UIM benefits, Appellant has taken the position that his damages exceed Fischer’s liability limits.

defendant). She has no contractual obligation to Respondent to appear at hearings or at trial.

Moreover, because Fischer has no financial interest in the case, there is a very real risk that Respondent would be forced to try the case with an absent defendant, thus opening the door for arguments by Appellant's counsel that Fischer didn't even care enough about the case to attend trial. All of these negative consequences flow from Appellant's failure to abide by the statutory service requirements. More importantly, they reveal the underlying importance of the service requirement and show why it is not sufficient to merely agree to set aside the default as to Respondent at this late stage in the case.<sup>4</sup>

The legislature designed a statutory method for litigating the UIM matter in the same action as the claim against the at-fault driver. In order to ensure the protection of judicial resources and the avoidance of duplicative litigation, as well as to prevent manipulation of the legal process, the legislature made timely service under § 38-77-160 a prerequisite to pursuing UIM benefits. Appellant failed to provide timely service in accordance with the statute and, therefore, is barred by the statute from seeking UIM coverage and re-litigating the case.

---

<sup>4</sup> The timing of Appellant's offer to set aside the default also reveals the duplicity of his positions in this case. Appellant refused to set aside default *as to Fischer* and obtained a full policy-limits settlement as a result of succeeding on the position. Now, he claims that he is willing to set aside the default *as to Fischer* in order to pursue additional funds from Respondent. However, certainly he isn't suggesting that he would agree to undo the effects of the default. Would Appellant be willing to set aside the settlement and refund the \$25,000 that he recovered from Fischer's liability carrier to permit Fischer to fully litigate her case?

**C. Appellant cannot rectify his failure to comply with § 38-77-160 by agreeing to set aside the default after holding the defendant in default and obtaining a full policy-limits settlement.**

Before both the Circuit Court and this Court, Appellant argues that he could always agree to set aside the default as to Respondent and permit the case to move forward. If a claimant could merely voluntarily set aside a judgment or default – after binding the defendant driver to the same – in order to pursue his UIM benefits, then the claimant in *Ex parte Allstate* could have done the same. He could have agreed to set aside the jury verdict and allowed the UIM carrier to step in and re-litigate the entire case. However, this would defeat the legislature’s goal of having one proceeding to resolve both issues. If setting aside the verdict were a suitable means of satisfying § 38-77-160, then the Court of Appeals in *Ex parte Allstate* would have struck the jury verdict as to Allstate and remanded the case for a new, full trial. Instead, the Court of Appeals in *Ex parte Allstate* recognized that the purpose of § 38-77-160 is to permit the UIM insurer to participate in the same litigation as the underinsured motorist from the beginning. Agreeing to set aside the default does not remedy the failure to satisfy the statutory prerequisite to pursuing Appellant’s UIM claim. He failed to serve Respondent “in the action establishing [Fischer’s] liability.” Therefore, “no action may be brought under the underinsured motorist provision.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160.

**D. The distinction between the standards in Rule 55(c) and 60(b) actually show that the Circuit Court correctly held that the entry of default should be treated no differently than a jury verdict.**

Before Respondent received any notice of the lawsuit, Appellant successfully argued that the Circuit Court should deny Fischer’s Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. Now, Appellant argues that *Ex parte Allstate* does not apply because he only obtained an entry of default, not a default judgment. This distinction is irrelevant to the subject

appeal because no appeal was ever made of the Order Denying Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. The issue of whether the entry of default can or should be set aside is not before this Court.

Even on this issue, as Appellant acknowledges, the standards for Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b) are quite different. The burden to set aside entry of default under Rule 55(c) is *lower* than the burden to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b). See *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Brothers, Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding that the Rule 60(b) standard of “excusable neglect” is more rigorous than the Rule 55(c) “good cause” standard). Because Respondent did not receive timely notice and appear on Fischer’s behalf, Fischer was unable to meet the *lower* “good cause” standard to obtain relief from the default. Therefore, Appellant’s arguments regarding the difference between the Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b) standards are unavailing.

The Order Denying the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default went unappealed. Therefore, Fischer’s default is the law of the case. It has the same effect as a jury determination that Fischer caused the accident. The only remaining procedural aspect of the case is a damages hearing based upon admitted liability and with no ability to conduct discovery, present opposing witnesses, or contest causation. Although Respondent could attend the damages hearing solely to cross-examine Appellant’s witnesses, this is a “far cry” from the procedural protections afforded by § 38-77-160.

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